# FILE COPY Supreme Court Copy

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF	. )	
CALIFORNIA,	)	S179552
	)	
Plaintiff and Respondent,	)	
•	)	
<b>v.</b>	)	
	)	
JARVONNE FEREDELL JONES,	)	
	)	
Defendant and Appellant.	)	
•	)	

Third Appellate District, No. C060376 Sacramento County Superior Court No. 08F04254 Honorable Jaime R. Roman, Judge

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 19 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk



CENTRAL CALIFORNIA APPELLATE PROGRAM

GEORGE BOND Executive Director

SANDRA URIBE Staff Attorney California Bar No. 183369

2407 J Street, Suite 301 Sacramento, CA 95816 (916) 441-3792

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

The Court has granted review of the following question: Did the trial court properly impose concurrent sentences for being an ex-felon in possession of a firearm (Pen. Code, § 12021, subd. (a)(1)) and carrying a loaded, concealed firearm (Pen. Code, § 12025, subd. (b)(6)) under the present circumstances? (See Pen. Code, § 654; *People v. Harrison* (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115, 121-122.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

### A. The Underlying Facts.

On May 26, 2008, Sacramento Police Officer Weinrich stopped a car which lacked a license plate. (RT 21.) Appellant, Jarvonne Feredell Jones, was driving the car, and his girlfriend was the sole passenger. (RT 22, 70.) The girlfriend informed the officer that the car belonged to her mother. (RT 87.)

Officer Weinrich decided to search the car for contraband. (RT 24.)

Officer Buno and an officer-in-training responded to Wienrich's call for assistance. (RT 25, 65.)

Weinrich searched the car twice, but found nothing. (RT 25, 49.)

Then Officer Buno searched it and found a loaded .38 Smith and Wesson antique revolver. (RT 25-26, 44.) The revolver was hidden behind a quarter panel in the driver's side door. (RT 76.) The panel had to be pried open for the gun to be removed. (RT 73.)

It took some effort to remove the bullets from the chamber and render the gun safe. (RT 29-30, 34.) The officers were unfamiliar with that particular weapon because it dated back to 1898. (RT 34, 44.)

After the gun was discovered, Officer Weinrich questioned appellant. (RT 26-27.) Appellant stated that he purchased the gun three

days earlier from a stranger who approached him asking whether he knew of anyone interested in buying a gun. (RT 28.) Appellant said that there were three bullets in the gun when he bought it. (RT 29.) Appellant explained that he bought the gun for protection and had kept it at his grandmother's house. It was in the car because he just picked it up from there. (RT 28, 61.)

#### B. <u>Procedural Facts</u>.

A jury convicted appellant of possession of a firearm by a felon (Pen. Code, § 12021, subd. (a)(1), count one), carrying a readily accessible concealed and unregistered firearm (Pen. Code, § 12025, subd. (b)(6), count two), and carrying an unregistered loaded firearm in public (Pen. Code, § 12031, subd. (a)(2)(F), count three). (CT 59-61.)

The probation report recommended counts two and three be stayed pursuant to section 654. (CT 105; see also Opinion, p. 3.) At sentencing, neither party expressed disagreement with that recommendation. (Opinion, p. 4.) The only thing contested was whether the upper term should be imposed. However, the trial court ultimately imposed concurrent sentences on both counts.<sup>1</sup> The four-year prison sentence imposed by the court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal observed that it was possible that the trial court agreed with the recommendation of the probation report, but misapplied the statute. (Opinion, p. 4.)

consisted of the upper term of three years on count 1, concurrent three-year terms on counts 2 and 3, and one year for the prison prior. (CT 5; RT 171.)

Appellant timely appealed. (CT 136-137.) On appeal, appellant argued that the sentences on counts two and three should be modified on the ground that they violated the multiple-punishment bar of section 654.

#### C. The Opinion of the Court of Appeal.

On December 10, 2009, the Court of Appeal agreed in part and modified the Sacramento County judgment. It stayed the sentence on count three, accepting respondent's concession that, as between it and count two, appellant committed a single act when he possessed a loaded firearm in public and possessed a concealed weapon. (Opinion, p. 4.)

However, the Court of Appeal held that appellant could be separately punished for counts one and two "because of the purpose of the ban on felons possessing firearms." (Opinion, p. 6.) The court reasoned appellant possessed the firearm in an unlawful way separate and above the unlawfulness inherent in a felon's possession of a firearm, namely by concealing the loaded firearm in a vehicle that he then drove on a public street. (Opinion, p. 7.) The court found that appellant's status as a convicted felon merited additional punishment. (Opinion, p. 10.)

The court cited *People v. Harrison* (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115, which upheld multiple sentences for possession of a gun by an ex-felon (Pen. Code, §12021) and possession of a loaded firearm in public (Pen. Code, § 12031) because loading the weapon involves a separate activity. (Opinion, p. 7-9; *People v. Harrison*, *supra*, 1 Cal.App.3d at p. 22.) Under the reasoning in *Harrison*, the Court of Appeal concluded that appellant's act of concealing the weapon, or allowing someone to conceal it for him, merited additional punishment from the act of mere possession because that was a separate act. (Opinion, p. 9.)

Appellant filed a petition for review on January 19, 2010, which this court granted on March 25, 2010.

-196. Te<sub>17</sub>:

#### ARGUMENT

APPELLANT'S SENTENCE FOR POSSESSING A CONCEALED WEAPON SHOULD HAVE BEEN STAYED PURSUANT TO PENAL CODE SECTION 654.

#### A. <u>Summary Of Argument</u>

This case concerns the multiple-punishment bar of section 654 – specifically, whether despite that bar a defendant can be doubly punished for possessing a concealed weapon because of his status as a convicted felon. Under the facts of this case, the correct answer to the above question is "no." The Court of Appeal erred in reaching the contrary conclusion. The Court of Appeal opinion conflates the criminal objectives of the defendant, which is the focus of the section 654 analysis in Neal v. State of California (1960) 55 Cal.2d 11, with the legislative objectives of the statutes in a way that renders *Neal* meaningless. And while there are other tests that can be used to determine whether section 654 should apply, because the record in this case contains evidence regarding appellant's intent, the *Neal* test is the controlling test. But even if the Court finds that *Neal* should not be applied to crimes of a continuing nature, such as possession offenses, multiple punishment was nevertheless prohibited under the test set forth by this Court in People v. Bradford (1976) 17 Cal.3d 8, which considered section 654 in the context of Penal Code section 12021.

#### B. The Multiple Punishment Bar Of Section 654.

Section 654 provides, in pertinent part:

An act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one provision. (§ 654, subd. (a).)

This part of the statute ensures that a defendant's punishment is commensurate with his culpability and that he is not punished more than once for what is essentially one criminal act. (*People v. Latimer* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203, 1211; *People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 552.)

#### C. The Standard Of Review.

Whether section 654 applies is a determination made from all the circumstances of the case and is primarily a question of fact for the trial court. The question on appeal becomes whether there is substantial evidence supporting the court's finding. If so, the finding will be upheld on appeal. (*People v. Osband* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 730; *People v. Coleman* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 112, 162.) Substantial evidence is defined as evidence which is reasonable, credible, and of solid value. (*People v. Johnson* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 578.)

#### D. The Section 654 Tests.

"Because of the many differing circumstances wherein criminal conduct involving multiple violations may be deemed to arise out of an 'act or omission,' there can be no universal construction which directs the proper application of section 654 in every instance." (*People v. Beamon* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 625, 636; see also *In re Adams* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 629, 633.) This Court has adopted several tests which can be used to determine whether section 654 applies to a given case. They are not mutually exclusive. If section 654 is deemed to apply under any one of the tests, a contrary result under another test is irrelevant and multiple punishment is barred. (*In re Hayes* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 604, 606, fn.1.)

In *In re Chapman* (1954) 43 Cal.2d 385, this Court enunciated a test to apply where there is a single act which overlaps essential elements of multiple crimes. According to *Chapman*, "when two offenses are committed by the same act or when that act is essential to both [] they may not both be punished." (*Id.* at p. 390.) The *Chapman* "overlapping elements" test has never been expressly disapproved. (*People v. Latimer* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203, 1209.)

The most widely used test in applying section 654 is the "intent and objective" test stated in *Neal v. State of California, supra*, 55 Cal.2d 11. It

applies where there is a continuing course of criminal conduct that violates more than one statute. The *Neal* test focuses on the intent and objective of the defendant. (*Id.* at p. 19.) "If all of the offenses were incident to one objective, the defendant may be punished for any one of such offenses but not for more than one." (*Ibid.*)<sup>2</sup> Since *Neal*, the Court has advised against both parsing the intent and objective of the defendant too finely (*People v. Britt* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 944, 953-954 [failure to register in new jurisdiction and to notify former jurisdiction of move had single objective of preventing any law enforcement agency from learning of current residence]), as well as construing it too broadly (*People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 552 [rejecting argument that multiple punishment for discrete sex offenses was impermissible based on the single objective of sexual gratification]).

There have been refinements of the *Neal* "intent and objective test" for dealing with certain contexts. (*People v. Beamon, supra*, 8 Cal.3d 625, 638, fn. 10.) For example, in *In re Adams, supra*, 14 Cal.3d 629, the Court applied *Neal* to narcotic offenses. Recognizing one may possess or transport drugs for a variety of reasons, the Court held the application of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Neal recognizes an exception for crimes of violence committed against multiple victims. (Neal, supra, 55 Cal.2d 11, 20–21; see also People v. Miller (1977) 18 Cal.3d 873, 885; People v. King (1993) 5 Cal.4th 59, 78.)

section 654 is not necessarily based on the number or types of drugs, but rather on the motivation of the defendant. (Id. at pp. 635-636.) In the context of two Vehicle Code violations, In re Hayes (1969) 70 Cal.2d 604, added a requirement that the overlapping elements of two offenses committed at the same time share the same criminal purpose in order to satisfy the *Neal* test. (*Hayes*, *supra*, 70 Cal.2d at pp. 607-611.) And in People v. Perez, supra, 23 Cal.3d 545, the Court applied Neal to cases dealing with multiple sex offenses against a single victim. For section 654 to apply to one of several self-contained sex offenses, it must be committed as a means of committing another, facilitate commission of another, or be incidental to the commission of any other. (Id. at pp. 553-554.) What all of these cases have in common is the use of the intent and objective test initially set forth in Neal. Despite the refinements, cases subsequent to Neal continue to utilize this common test to determine the application of section 654.

As to Penal Code section 12021 convictions in particular, one of the crimes at issue here, in *People v. Bradford* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 8, this Court cited with approval the test applied in *People v. Venegas* (1970) 10 Cal.App.3d 814, and held that whether the possession constitutes a divisible transaction from the offense in which the felon employs the weapon

depends on the facts and evidence of each individual case. Where the evidence shows a possession *distinctly antecedent and separate from* the primary offense, multiple punishment is permitted. But where the evidence shows possession only in conjunction with the primary offense, then separate punishment for section 12021 is not allowed. (*People v. Bradford*, *supra*, 17 Cal.3d at pp. 22-23, emphasis added.)

Some Courts of Appeal have devised a test focusing on the legislative intent of the underlying offenses; a "statutory purpose" type of evaluation. (See e.g., *People v. Vang* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 912, 917 ["the crimes of felon in possession of a firearm and possession of methamphetamine while armed address distinct dangers"].) The thinking is that if statutes have different public purposes directed at "distinct evils," then a defendant who violates both statutes simultaneously should be doubly punished because he is infringing upon two societal interests. In such a test, the defendant is supposedly not being doubly punished because the remedial target of each statute being violated differs, no matter what the intent and objective of the defendant. This approach can be traced to *People v. Harrison* (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115. And that was the rationale of the court in this case. But this "statutory purpose" approach has never been

approved by this Court and, as will be explained below, it is at odds with the *Neal* "intent and objective" test.

E. The Court Of Appeal's Reliance On *People v. Harrison* (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115 Was Misplaced And *Harrison* Should Be <u>Disapproved.</u>

The Court of Appeal in this case concluded that convicted felons who simultaneously violate both sections 12021 and 12025 or 12031 necessarily possess two separate intents and objectives for purposes of section 654 because those laws target different statutory purposes. It relied on *People v. Harrison*, *supra*, 1 Cal.App.3d 115, to reach this conclusion. But the *Harrison* approach is flawed and should be disapproved.

In *Harrison*, the defendant was convicted of one count of being a felon in possession of a firearm and one count of carrying a loaded firearm in a vehicle on a public street, based on one discrete event - a single traffic stop in which a loaded gun was found in the defendant's car. (*People v. Harrison, supra,* 1 Cal.App.3d at p. 118.) The Court of Appeal rejected the defendant's contention that separate punishment for each conviction violated the prohibition of section 654. In upholding multiple punishments, the court gave three reasons for its conclusion. First the court observed that one offense was not a lesser included offense of the other. (*Id.* at p. 122.) Second, the court noted that the two statutes addressed two different

concerns: that of felons possessing concealed weapons, loaded or not, and that of anyone carrying a loaded gun in a public place. (*Ibid.*) Third, the court determined "the 'intent and objective' underlying the criminal conduct was not single, but several" because the gun was loaded. (*Ibid.*) "For an ex-convict to a carry a concealable firearm is one act. But loading involves separate activity." (*Ibid.*)

In concluding that section 654 does not apply when one offense is not a lesser included offense of the other, *Harrison*, appears to have confused merger with the application of section 654. This Court has clearly stated that the proscription against multiple punishment of a single act is not limited to necessarily included offenses. (See *Neal*, *supra*, 55 Cal.2d at p. 18.) In fact, were one offense a lesser included of the other, the remedy would be to strike the lesser included offense, not simply stay punishment. (*People v. Bauer, supra*, 1 Cal.3d at p. 375.)

Harrison predates this Court's decision in Bradford which, as noted above, held that for a conviction of section 12021 to merit additional punishment, there must be possession distinctly antecedent and separate from the primary offense. (People v. Bradford, supra, 17 Cal.3d at pp. 22-23.) Harrison cannot be reconciled with the rule this Court adopted in Bradford.

The *Harrison* court found it important that the statutes at issue addressed two different societal evils. (*People v. Harrison, supra*, 1 Cal.App.3d at p. 122.) But, as this Court recently made clear, section 654 and the "divisible course of conduct" rule presuppose that the defendant has violated two statutes. It should make no difference, for purposes of applying section 654, that each of these offenses is supported by a different and distinct public policy. Section 654 is concerned with the defendant's intent, not the Legislature's purpose in enacting the offenses in question. (*People v. Britt, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 952.) In fact, the effect of section 654 is to limit or prohibit multiple punishment for behavior that may violate different laws.

Turning to the present case, the appellate court found it significant that, after appellant purchased the gun, he concealed it in the car, or had someone hide it for him. (Opinion, p. 9.) The court then held that per *Harrison*, *supra*, 1 Cal.App.3d 122, that act merits separate punishment from mere possession. (*Ibid*.)

The Court of Appeal noted, "The purpose of section 12021 is to protect the public welfare by precluding the possession of guns by those who are more likely to use them for improper purposes—felons [Citations], and to provide a greater punishment to an armed felon than to an unarmed

felon. [Citation.]." (Opinion, p. 6, citations omitted.) Thus, the Court of Appeal in this case suggests that multiple punishment is required, as a matter of law, for the single act of a felon possessing a firearm and carrying a loaded firearm or concealing it. The decision of the Court of Appeal improperly divests the trial court of its discretion to determine, based on the facts of the case, the intent and objective of the defendant.<sup>3</sup>

And that rationale ignores that the Legislature has already lowered the threshold for behavior by felons. *Any* possession of a firearm *anywhere* is prohibited. It is a fair assumption that felons' guns would be loaded and concealed. (The original version of section 12021 even applied only to concealable firearms.) (See *People v. Mills* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1278, 1282.

Appellant acknowledges "The law presumes the danger is greater when the person possessing the concealable firearm has previously been convicted of felony, and the presumption is not impermissible." (*People v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It should be noted that it is not only felons who would be automatically subjected to multiple punishment under the reasoning of *Harrison, supra,* 1 Cal.App.3d 122, and of the Court of Appeal in this case. If this logic is to be applied, then any minor who unlawfully possesses a weapon in violation Penal Code section 12101, subdivision (a) and committed another offense involving possession of a weapon, such as a violation of section 12031 or 12025, would also be subjected to multiple punishment simply because of his or her age. And yet, most minors do not present a clear and present danger to society.

Bell (1989) 49 Cal.3d 502, 544.) And the Legislature may provide for increased punishment for an offense that has more serious consequences by, for instance, raising the statutory prison terms, adding enhancements, or upgrading the offense from a misdemeanor to a felony. (Wilkoff v. Superior Court (1985) 38 Cal.3d 345, 352.)

The Legislature could have very easily limited the applicability of section 654 to section 12021, as it has done in other contexts. (*People v.* Norrell (1996) 13 Cal.4th 1, 5-6.) For example, Penal Code section 667.6, subdivision (c) provides an exception to allow imposition of multiple punishment for multiple acts of certain sex offenses that were committed during a single transaction. (See People v. Hicks (1993) 6 Cal.4th 784, 792 [the enactment of Penal Code section 667.6, subdivision (c), created an exception to Penal Code section 654].) The Legislature could have provided a similar exception within section 12021 itself. Alternatively, had it wanted to, the Legislature could have converted section 12021 to a status enhancement which would not be subject to the section 654 prohibition. Since 1995, when this Court decided *People v. Coronado* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 145, it has been settled that Penal Code section 654 does not apply to statustype enhancements. (See also *People v. Reeves* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 14,

55-56.) The Legislature is presumed to know the existing case law. (*People v. Green* (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1090-91.)

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