SUPREME COURT COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JARVONNE FEREDELL JONES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S179552

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 18 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Third Appellate District, Case No. C060376

Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 08F04254

The Honorable Jaime Roman, Judge

Deputy

COPY

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly imposed concurrent sentences on counts one and two because, under the facts of this case, neither section 654 nor the test as established in *Neal v. State of California* (1960) 55 Cal.2d 11, 19 (*Neal*) barred the imposition of multiple punishment. Appellant committed two distinct criminal acts, and each criminal act was committed with a different intent and objective. Thus, multiple punishment was warranted in this case.

The Court of Appeal rejected this argument and instead upheld the concurrent sentences based on the rational and test as set forth in *People v. Harrison*, *supra*, 1 Cal.App.3d at pp. 121-122. Respondent submits that the evidence in this case supported multiple punishment and that *Harrison*, to the extent it is consistent with *Neal*, also lends support for multiple punishment.

² Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436.

³ During cross-examination, Officer Weinrich testified that appellant further explained that he kept the gun at his grandmother's house, but that he had picked it up from there and "that's why the gun was in the car." (RT 60-61.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED CONCURRENT SENTENCES ON COUNTS ONE AND TWO

A. General Principles

Section 654, subdivision (a) provides in pertinent part:

An act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one provision.

The purpose of section 654 "is to insure that a defendant's punishment will be commensurate with culpability." (*People v. Latimer* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203, 1211.) Under the plain language of the statute, multiple punishment may not be imposed for a single "act or omission." (*Ibid.*) However, "[c]ase law has expanded the meaning of section 654 to apply to more than one criminal act when there was a course of conduct that violates more than one statute but nevertheless constitutes an indivisible transaction." (*People v. Hairston* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 231, 240; see also *Neal*, *supra*, 55 Cal.2d at p. 19.)⁴ Thus, "[w]hether a course of

These criticisms have some merit. By its language, section 654 applies only to "[a]n act or omission" Nothing in this language suggests the "intent or objective" test. As we have noted before, that test is a "judicial gloss" that was "engrafted onto section 654." [Citation.] Whether it should have been is debatable."

This Court, however, more recently acknowledged: "[a] decade ago, we criticized this test but also reaffirmed it as the established law of this state." (*People v. Britt* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 944, 952.)

⁴ The Court, in *People v. Latimer*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 1211, was critical of the "intent and objective" test as set forth in *Neal*:

criminal conduct is divisible and therefore gives rise to more than one act within the meaning of section 654 depends on the intent and objective of the actor." (*Neal*, at p. 19; see also *People v. Britt, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 951-952; *People v. Harrison* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 321, 335.)

If all of the offenses were merely incidental to, or were the means of accomplishing or facilitating one objective, defendant may be found to have harbored a single intent and therefore may be punished only once. On the other hand, if the defendant entertained multiple criminal objectives which were independent of and not merely incidental to each other, he may be punished for independent violations committed in pursuit of each objective even though the violations shared common acts or were parts of an otherwise indivisible course of conduct.

(*Harrison*, at p. 335, internal citations and quotations omitted.)

Whether crimes constitute an indivisible course of conduct is a question of fact for the trial court, and its findings will not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by substantial evidence. (*People v. Osband* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 730; *People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 552, fn. 5; *People v. Hutchins* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1308, 1312; *People v. Herrera* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1456, 1466.) "We review the trial court's determination in the light most favorable to the respondent and presume the existence of every fact the trial court could reasonably deduce from the evidence." (*People v. Hutchins, supra,* 90 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1312-1313; see also *People v. Jones* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 1139, 1143; *People v. Cleveland* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 263, 271 [trial court's finding of "separate intents" reviewed for sufficient evidence in light most favorable to the judgment].)

Since *Neal*, the "test has generated a number of refinements in the area where the test is applicable." (*People v. Beamon* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 625, 638, fn. 10; see also *People v. Latimer*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at pp. 1211-1212 [cases decided since the *Neal* intent-and-objective rule have "limited the

rule's application in various ways," including, in some cases, by "narrowly interpret[ing] the length of time the defendant had a specific objective, and thereby found similar but consecutive objectives permitting multiple punishment."].) Consequently, there are "cases [that] have sometimes found separate objectives when the objectives were either (1) consecutive even if similar or (2) different even if simultaneous. In those cases, multiple punishment was permitted." (*Latimer*, at pp. 1211-1212; see also *People v. Britt, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 952.)

B. The trial court correctly imposed concurrent sentences on counts one (unlawful possession of a firearm) and two (carrying a concealed weapon)

Section 12021, subdivision (a)(1), provides as follows:

Any person who has been convicted of a felony under the laws of the United States, the State of California, or any other state, government, or country or of an offense enumerated in subdivision (a), (b), or (d) of Section 12001.6, or who is addicted to the use of any narcotic drug, and who owns, purchases, receives, or has in his or her possession or under his or her custody or control any firearm is guilty of a felony.

The purpose of section 12021 is to protect the public by banning possession of firearms by those who are more likely to use them for improper purposes. (*People v. Pepper* (1996) 41 Cal.App.4th 1029, 1037.)

"Penal Code, section 12021, is part of the legislative scheme originally promulgated in 1917 (Stats. 1917, ch. 145, p. 221, § 1) and commonly known as the Dangerous Weapons Control Act. ... (24a) The clear intent of the Legislature in adopting the weapons control act was to limit as far as possible the use of instruments commonly associated with criminal activity [citation] and, specifically, 'to minimize the danger to public safety arising from the free access to firearms that can be used for crimes of violence.' [Citations.] The law presumes the danger is greater when the person possessing the concealable firearm has previously been convicted of felony, and the presumption is not impermissible. [Citation.]"

(People v. Bell (1989) 49 Cal.3d 502, 544, internal citations omitted.)

Whether a violation of section 12021 constitutes a divisible transaction from the offense in which he employs the weapon depends upon the facts and evidence of each individual case. (*People v. Jones* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 1139, 1144, citing *People v. Bradford* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 8, 22, *People v. Venegas* (1970) 10 Cal.App.3d 814, 821, internal quotations and footnote omitted.) "[W]here the evidence shows a possession only in conjunction with the primary offense, then punishment for the illegal possession of the firearm has been held to be improper where it is the lesser offense." (*Jones*, at p. 1144, citing *Bradford*, at p. 22 [multiple punishment improper for assault with a deadly weapon upon a peace officer and possession of a firearm by an ex-felon convictions where defendant wrested away officer's revolver and shot at the officer with it];see, e.g., *Venegas*, at pp. 818-819 [multiple punishment improper for possession of a firearm by an ex-felon and assault with a deadly weapon where no showing defendant had possessed the gun before the assault]).

On the other hand, where the evidence shows a possession distinctly antecedent and separate from the primary offense, punishment on both crimes has been approved. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 103 Cal.App.4th at p. 1144, citing *People v. Killman* (1975) 51 Cal.App.3d 951, 959 [defendant "properly punished for his own personal possession of the gun before the robbery" where evidence demonstrated he purchased gun several months before robbery and had used it for target practice]; see, e.g., *People v. Ratcliff* (1990) 223 Cal.App.3d 1401, 1412 ["... multiple punishment improper where evidence shows that, at most, 'fortuitous circumstances put firearm in defendant's hand only at the instant of committing another offense.""]; *People v. Garfield* (1979) 92 Cal.App.3d 475, 478 [defendant properly sentenced for burglary and possession of a weapon by a narcotics

addict based upon his possession of a firearm stolen during the burglary; he had the weapon in his personal possession when arrested six days after the burglary and had not stored it with the rest of the fruits of the burglary].)

Thus, "[s]ection 654 is inapplicable when the defendant arrives at the crime scene already in possession of the firearm." (*People v. Maestas* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 247, 255, citing *People v. Jones, supra*, 103 Cal.App.4th at p. 1141.) There, "it may reasonably be inferred that the firearm possession is a separate and antecedent offense, carried out with an independent, distinct intent from the primary crime." (*Ibid.*) Once the intent to possess a firearm is perfected by the actual possession, the commission of a crime under section 12021 is complete. (*People v. Ratcliff, supra*, 223 Cal.App.3d at p. 1414.)

In the instant case, substantial evidence supports the trial court's implicit finding that appellant's possession of the firearm was distinctly antecedent and separate from the primary offense of concealing it in his car. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 103 Cal.App.4th at p. 1144.) It is undisputed that appellant had purchased the gun for protection three days before he was stopped by Officer Weinrich. (RT 27-28.) It is also undisputed that appellant had kept the gun at his grandmother's house until he later decided to pick up the gun, which is why it was later found in the car. (RT 60-61.) Indeed,

[c]ommission of a crime under section 12021 is complete once the intent to possess is perfected by possession. What the exfelon does with the weapon later is another separate and distinct transaction undertaken with an additional intent which necessarily is something more than the mere intent to possess the proscribed weapon.

(People v. Ratcliff, supra, 223 Cal.App.3d at p. 1414, citing People v. Harrison (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115; People v. Hudgins (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 174, 184-185.) Thus, appellant's intent to possess the gun was

perfected three days prior to the stop when he purchased the weapon, which he then kept at his grandmother's house. (RT 27-28.) Appellant's possession was distinctly antecedent and separate from his subsequent criminal act of physically taking the gun from his grandmother's house and hiding it in the front driver's side door panel. (RT 25-26, 29-30, 72.)

Although the Court of Appeal ultimately agreed that it was proper for appellant to be separately punished as between counts one and two, it rejected the above argument based on the following reasons:

Defendant did not use his gun to commit a nonpossessory crime. And the People did not argue defendant was guilty of possession three days before his arrest: The prosecutor mentioned defendant's admission that he bought the gun three days before to bolster the theory that defendant knowingly possessed the gun, not to base liability on possession before the date of arrest. Accordingly, we question the theory of antecedent possession in this case.

(Opinion, p. 6.) Appellant similarly relies on statements made by the prosecutor in support of his argument that multiple punishment is barred in this case. (AOB 20-21, 26-27.) He also similarly argues that he did not "use the gun to commit other crimes" and instead engaged in "passive conduct" in support of his argument that multiple punishment is barred in this case. (AOB 30-33.)

Respondent submits that the prosecution's decisions on how to charge the case or use the evidence are not factors to consider when determining whether multiple punishment is barred pursuant to section 654. Rather, a defendant's intent is a factual question. (*People v. Andra* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 638, 640.) It is well-settled that the trial court determines whether the defendant acted with a single, or multiple, criminal intents. (*People v. Ratcliffe* (1981) 124 Cal.App.3d 808, 815.) Thus, its "findings will not be reversed on appeal if there is any substantial evidence to support them." (*People v. Yang Vang* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 912, 916.)

Consequently, the question of whether a defendant acted with a single or multiple criminal intents is determined by considering only the evidence produced at trial.

Respondent further disagrees with the characterization that the crime of carrying a concealed weapon is always a "possessory" crime involving "passive" criminal conduct.

Statutory terms are to be understood in their ordinary and usual meanings unless the context indicates otherwise. (*Woosley v. State of California* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 758, 775 [13 Cal.Rptr.2d 30, 838 P.2d 758].) To conceal is "1: to prevent disclosure or recognition of: avoid revelation of: refrain from revealing: withhold knowledge of: draw attention from: treat so as to be unnoticed 2: to place out of sight: withdraw from being observed: shield from vision or notice" (Webster's New Internat. Dict. (3d ed. 1993) p. 469.)

(People v. Hodges (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1348, 1355; see also § 12025.) Under these circumstances, the evidence demonstrated that appellant took the gun from his grandmother's house, moved the gun into his car, and hid it on the passenger side door panel. (RT 26-27.) This is not "passive" criminal conduct. Even the Court of Appeal acknowledged as follows:

Here, as stated, after [appellant] purchased the gun, he concealed it in the car, or had someone conceal it for him. Under the reasoning of *Harrison* just quoted, that act merits separate punishment from mere possession. Accordingly, a section 654 stay is not required as between counts one and two.

(Opinion, p. 9.) Thus, as argued in more detail above, appellant's act of concealing the weapon in his car was a separate and distinct act involving an intent other than mere possession.

C. The Harrison Case

Relying on *People v. Harrison* (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115, the Court of Appeal ultimately held that multiple punishment was appropriate as between count one and counts two or three "because of the purpose of the

ban on felons possessing firearms" (Opinion, pp. 6-9.) In *Harrison*, officers recovered a loaded revolver from underneath the right front seat of the vehicle defendant was driving. (*Harrison*, at pp. 118-119.) The defendant was convicted of and received punishment for possession of a firearm by a felon and possession of a loaded firearm on a public street. (*Id.* at pp. 117-118, 121-122.) The *Harrison* court found that the sentences did not violate section 654 and upheld the sentences imposed on both counts. (*Id.* at pp. 121-122.)

Initially, the *Harrison* court noted the "lesser included offense" test was sometimes used to determine whether section 654 applied and that the test was not met in the case. (*People v. Harrison, supra*, 1 Cal.App.3d at p. 122.) More relevant to the instant case, the *Harrison* court then acknowledged that the "two statutes strike at different things." (*Ibid.*) It explained as follows:

One is the hazard of permitting ex-felons to have concealable firearms, loaded or unloaded; the risk to public safety derives from the type of person involved. The other strikes at the hazard arising when any person carries a loaded firearm in public. Here, the mere fact the weapon is loaded is hazardous, irrespective of the person (except those persons specifically exempted) carrying it.

(*Ibid.*) The *Harrison* court concluded as follows:

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